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Mr. Ivan Selin

Chairman

U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D. C. 20555

Dear Mr. Selin:

Recent'y, Gecrgia Power Company received a Nutice of Violation and Froposed
Imposition of Civil Penalty from the NRC concerning events that occurred at the
Vogtle Electric Generating Plant in October 1988. Enclosed is a copy of Georgia
Power Company's response to this enforcement action.

We are sending you a copy of our response to this violation because we believe
the enforcemeat action is an example of inappropriate regulatory action. Some
of the problems associated with this action are:

1) The failure of the NRC Staff to determine whether a violation occurred
before referring the matter to the Office of Investigations for an
extensive, long and costly investigation of an alleged "willful" violation
that was nover substanticted,;

2) Inappropriate cascading of alleged violations in the enforcement action,
whereby numerous violations are alleged, all built up from one underlying
alleged technical specification violation, apparently intended to infer
broad problems from an otherwise minor occurrence;

3) Factual errors and misperceptions in the enforcement action;

4) A failure to promulgate generic guidance on issues of ambiguous
interpretation, before taking enforcement action;

§) A proposed large fine apparently based more on the level of NRC Staff
resources devoted to the matter rather than on safety significauce.

The NRC's Office of Tnvestigations conducted an extensive inquiry into potential
*willful wrongdoing" associated with this event. The 1nvestigation went on for
about two years without the NRC having ever identified any alleged violation!
Finally, no wrongdoing was found but the alleged v’. itions addressed in the
enclosure were identified.
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Georgia Power has al expended far more in legal fees than the proposed

$100,000 fine luch n costly have been time and distraction from running our
business in :

From time-tc : sio § have requested that we provide examples of
what we consid e inappropriate regulation. It is in this spirit that we
are providing 1S e ¥ your internal use We do not request or expect
any response e ar mj dedicated to operating our plants in a safe and
cost-effective
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Docket No. 50-424

U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
ATTN: Document Control Desk
Weshington, D. C. 20855

Gentlemen:

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT
REPLY TO -~ NOTICE OF VIOLATION
AND
PROPQSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL PENALTY

On Deccmber 21, 1991, the NRC issued a Notice of Violation (Enforcement

Action 91-141) and proposed a $100,000 civil penalty against Georgia Power
Company (GPC) for alleg.d violations at the Vogtle Electric Generating "L
(VEGP). The enforcement action relates to an incident at VEGP which occurred in
October 1988. Enclosure . is GPC's reply to the Notice of Violation (NQV) in
accordance with 10 CFR 2.201. Georgia Power Company denies tie violations and
protests the imposition of the civil penalty. Our response to the civil
penalty, pursuant to 10 CFR 2.205, is provided as Enclosure 2.

Georgia Power Company respectfully requests reconsideration of the violations
and the civil penalty. As discussed in detail in the enclosures, GPC denies
that the violations occurred as alleged, and we censider the civil peralty to be
unwarranted.

Sincerely,

G g
C. K. Mcloy

/

{

Enclosures

xc: Georgia Power Company
Mr. W. B. Shipman
Mr. M. Sheibani
NORMS

Y. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Mr. S. D. Ebneter, Regional Administrator

Mr. D. S. Hood, Licensing Project Manager, NRR

Mr. B. R. Bonser, Senior Resident Inspector, Vogtle
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As stated in our October 1, 1991, letter (Mr. C. K. McCoy to Mr. James H
Sniezek, ELV-03148) and during the September 19, 1991, enforcement conference
VEGP denies that any violation of the TS occurred on October 12 and 13, 1988,
when RMWST valves -176 and -177 were opened. The decision to voluntarily enter
the Limiting Condition for Operation (LCO) of TS 3.4.1.4.7 (1988 edition) was
consistent with the language of the 7S as well as established practice and NR(
guidance available at the time Because such an entry was not prohibited, n¢
violation occurred

g
ich 15 cast in the negative case, 1.e., the word “prohibit
ywhere in the pertinent TS s at odds with the overall

ru tion of the TS, as well as a specific controlling 7S

ovision. It is also at odds with a1l guidance as it existed in 1988, and
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ry Entry em on
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Consequently, entering Action Statement ¢ of 7S5 3.4.1.4.2 was not prohibited for
. - o h i :

“all dilutions Rather, only those dilutions which are not "within the

latitude permitted” by the Actic tatement language of the 15 were proscribed
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In 1988, the latitude conferred by TS 3 4.2 Action Statement ¢ allc
voluntary entry into the LCO and ass ated Action requirements up 10
specified "immediate" time interval contemplated by the TS.

"

Contrary to the NRC's assertion, 75 3 ¢ was not violated by all dilutior

3.4
through the flowpath at issue A violat
4
4
' )

interval allowed b) e TS was exceedet It was not, This interval was, for
this application, reasonably determinec

to be 15 minutes by consulting the

Standard Review Plan cr tpr a applicable to relevant dilution analyses And.
(a‘t historically and prior to the event, entrance for this duration in the
' g for "whatever reason" wa 0t prohibited

L

See

onfirms a“‘ reinforces VEGP's conclusion that the
required Action is subject to interpretation based
Mr. J. H nr\e.eu (then Assistant Director for
trhe term "immediate” relative to the required
of redundant systems upon the failure of one,
Fiorelli concludes that a proposed duration of
ion may be tco long in some cases (e.g., probability
lure) and too short in others (e.g., not likely that the

» *+he

would have occurred only if the time

by the same mode and the 4-hour limitation "miaht creats

There Mr, t'\&zok concluded that the NRC would have to
the technical judgement of the NRC inspection staff on a case-by-case
to determine the a;;r::rwéte duration of “"immediate" Action. (See
chment 3 to this Enclosure.) Later NRC internal correspondence also
nstrates that the time available for the required Action is far from clear
Attachment 4 to this Enclosure; e.g., May 26, 1990, memorandum to Mr. G
Lainas from Mr. Luis A. Reyes requesting technical assistance for
interpretation of the T1S5.)
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VEGP is entirely comfortable that the technical judgement applied in 1988 by
licensed operators uging that an admiristratively controllied chemica
addition with a duration of 5 minutes as an acceptable time interval, was
reasonable and did not violate 7S 3.4.1.4.2. For the NRC to now impose a
definition of "immediate" as having no duration in an enforcement action runs
afoul of the spirit and intent of the Enforcement Policy as well as

10 CFR 50.109. While genuine differences of opinion may exist as to whether
actions taken in 1988 are optimum practice, those actions did not violate the
nor : the subject of enforcement sznctions. Further, VEG
is comfort chemical addition evolution was not adverse to safety
C%T."’*a'e” ’» ontemporaneous operational
and the NR(C’s a::ru‘c' of the amendment to TS

v
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Furthermore, as late as March ]8§¢ licensed personnel at another utility withir
NRC Region 11 used the same logic as did the VEGP operations staff when they
chose luntarily enter an ) which required immediate action. While this
ut ter chose to report this event as a condition prohibited by the TS
\ibi ] 28, 1991, response to the June 3, 1991,
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the TS, much less propose a civil penalty
ple of inconsistent application of the

erpretation ¢
€S 1mmegrate

October 19¢ e offer the

manipulation ¢ lves 1-1208-U4-176 and 1-1208-U4-177 was made
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hot f1lled® con d therefore did not appreciate that the TS
t the time. It should be noted that no dilution occurred because
was added to » reactor coolant system (RCS) at this time (1.e.,
icals and water we added to the chemical addition tank).
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ENCLOSURE 1 (CONTINUED)

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT 1
REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

valves. (See our letter dated August 28, 1991, in response to the June 3,
1991, Demand for Information by the NRC. Specifically, gagcs 37 and 38 and
Appendix 11, Attachment 2 discuss training and additional guidance provided
to operations personnel as a result of this event.)

VEGP recognizes the additional guidance provided, as a result of this event,
by the NRC in 1991 regarding voluntary entry into TS LCOs which require
immediate action. Specifically, VEGP now understands that the NRC's
position 1s that such action constitutes a TS violation. This position has
been adopted as VEGP policy with respect to TS compliance. On August 15,
1981, the VEGP General Manager issued a memorandum advising operators that
LCOs which do not have specific allowed outage times should not be
voluntarily entered except as expressly provided in associated Surveillance
Requirements.

Section 15.4.6 of the FSAR was revised in March 199] to clarify the use of
the RMWST discharge valves in Mode 5 with the loops not filled and in
Mode 6.

when the scope of an outage is known and the needed work activities have
been identified, Outage Planning (O&P) personnel use the TS as limitations
for planning the day-to-day activities of the outage., The operational
experience and expertise of the VEGP (OAP) group has been strengthened, and
the depth of review during the outage planning process for potential
operationa) limitations has been increased.

Before a planned refueling outage begins, O&P personnel send a preliminary
outage schedule to affected departments for input and review. Licensed
senior reactor operators now review the schedule at a detailed level to
ensure compliance with the TS. This is an iterative process with the end
result being a detailed outage schedule whose activities have been intensely
examined. (See the August 28, 1991, letter in response to the June 3, 18%l,
N<C Demand for Information, specifically pages 36 and 37.) Also, as a
result of the event of March 20, 1990, VEGP made improvements in its outage
management, and the NRC noted those improvements in its December 10, 1890,
Systematic Assessment of Licensee Performance (SALP) Report on VEC?.

The need for a broader review of TS clarifications was identified as a
weakness in Inspection Reports 50-424, 425/90-13 which concerned the
inspection conducted by an NRC Special Inspection Team during August 1330.
In response, VEGP has broadened the review of written TS clarifications by
charging the Manager of Technical Support with responsibility for obtaining
the appropriate departmental reviews, including licensing personnel, as well
as consulting with the NRC staff as appropriate. (See our leiter dated
February 8, 199], ELV-02446.)

£1-7



ENCLOSURE 1 (CONTINUVED)

VOGYLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT 1
) REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION
The requirements of 15 3.4.1.4.2 were amended in February 1850 by the NRC in

response to our application dated November 21, 1689, to allow the use of
RMWST discharge valves -176 and -177 under administrative control provided

certain specific conditions are met.
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ENCLOSURE 1 (CONTINUVED)

VOGTLE ELECTR!. GENERATING PLANT - UWIT ]
REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

responsibilities include the responsibilities of the 0505 to ensure 7§
compliance, However, Procedure 10000-C 1s not violated by every TS violation.
Apart from the fact that VEGP does not agree that & 1§ violavien occurred in
this case (as ¢iscussed above), 4 15 violation does n.t mean the members of the
organization necessarily failed to neet their respor - “11ity. Any other
conclusion would mean that every 15 violation 1, _ viclation of Procedure
10000-C, and thus, also a violation of 7§ 6.7.1.

Also, once a TS 1scue is identified, it ‘s clearly the responsibility of
Operations personrel to ensure compliance, A viclation of Procedure 10000-C
would occur only if in these circumstances the Operations personnel had
abdicated their responsibility to ensure TS5 compliance or williully ignored the
15, This 1s pot what occurred in this case. Section 3.1 of Procedure 10000-C
provided instructions for mlking 15 interpretations when needec (Exhibit 32 of
Appendix | to our August 28, 1851, letter), When the day shift OS05 on both
October 12 and 13, 1988, discovered the potentia) conflict, the applicabla
instructions of Section 3.)) were followed. He stopped the evolutiun and
contylted with other SROs, including the Operations Manager. HKe then proceeded
with the evolution after conc\ud1nx that the evolution could be conductea in
accordance with TS requirements, As discussed in our response to Violation A,
his actions were made in good faith, were consistent with evailable RRC

uidance, any fulfilled his responsibilities as set forth in Procedure 10000-C,

horcfo;c, VEGP believes that in this case also, no vicolation of 15 6.7.1
occurred,

£1-13



ENCLOSURE 1 (CONTINUVED)

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT |
REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

MRC OEEICE “0. . ! 2 e
RESPONSE 10 YIOLATION
Admission or Denial of the yielation
VELP dentes that the procedures controlling the chemical sddition evolution were
inadequate.
Basis for Denial

Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion V, of Title 10 to the Code of Federal Regulations
requ’res, in part, that activities affecting quality shall be prescribed by
docum nted instructions, procedures, or drawings of a type appropriate to the
circumstances and shall be accomplished in accordance with these instructions,
procedures, or drawings, VEGP believes that adequate ?rocodurct appropriate to
the circumstances had been established for the chemical additicr evolution in
October 1988. These procedures were followed. Thus, no violation of Criterion
V occurred.

The NOV retererces only one factor, a 1imited aspect of Procedure 13007-1, as
the basis for the violation, The NOV states that the procedures call for &
reactor coolant pump to be running to assure thorouyh mixing, but this is not
possicle in Mode § with the loops not filled,

Thofr:}cvant portion of Procedure 13007-1, apparently aliuded to by the NOV, is
as follows:

4.7 REACTOR CCOLANT SYSTEM CHEMICAL ADDITION
NOTE

To ensure thorough mixan?.

at least one Reactor Coolant Pump
should be in operation while
chemicals are being added to

the system.

4.7.1 1SOLATE the chemical mixing tank by verifying the following
valves are CLOSED:

(For additional information on the text of this procedure
see Exhibit 12 of Appendix | to our August 28,198],
response to the June 3, 1981, NRC Demand for Information.)

However, it appears that the NRC is erroneous in 1imiting their view to only
thi; porifon of the procedure. There was a hierarch, of procedures applicable

£l1-14






ENCLOSURE 1 (CONTINUED)

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT ]
REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Guidance given to plant personnel in 1988 concerning the use of notes in
Broc'durcs was provided in Plant Administrative Procedure 00050-C, "Procedure
evelopment.® This guidance was and continues to be as follows:

*Notes are used, if needed, to supply additional information which would
help the user to ynderstand & step or process.” (emphasis added)

Notes such as the note on Procedure 13007-1 referenced in the NOV have never
been intended to be used as procedural steps.

In summary, procedures were specifically written for the addition of chemicals
in Mode 5 with the Jocps not filled in October 1988 and followed accordingly,
with the intent of the note in Procedure 13007-1 being satisfied by Procedure
49006-C. Moreover, the fact that the RCFs could not run in Mode 5 with the
loops not filled did not invalidate Procedu.. 13007-1, Georgia Poer Company
therefore believes that agequate procedures had been estabiished for the
chemical addition evolution in October 1988 and that the violation stated above
did not occur.

Fl1-16
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ATTACHMENT I

$78. Section 3.0
Yoluntary Eitry inte
Action Statementy
1ssve Date: VU2

Interpretation

voluntary Entry inte Actien Statement Congitions of the Technical Specifications
(18)

Furpoie:

Yo provide the NEC pesitica concerning Veluntary Entry Inte 7§ Aztion
Statemant Congitions

Disgussien:

10 CFR 80.36(c)(2) cescribes the 1imiting conditions for eperation as the
Towest functiona) cagability er performance leve) of egquipment that i
required for the safe operation of Lhe facility. Paragraph 50.36(c)(2)
als0 states that the licensee shall shutdown the reactor er follow any

renedia) action pareiited Ly the TS whenever & 1imiting condition for
operetion cannot be Bl

The NRC enderses Yeluntary Entry into the Action Statement Congitions »’
has structured the 1§ to permit the licenses 10 exercise judgment withi®
t e latitude pereitted by the Actien Stitssent language in tie 15, T
Ts also restricts facility operation in ‘the specified cegraded porcr
operation to the 1imited period of time designited {n the relatec ”
addition, 1tes 3.0.4 of the STS prehibits entry into an operatic
unless the conditions for the 1{miting conditior for operation ¢
without reliance on provisfons contained in the sction regquitere’
latter fiem provices assurance that a1l operability requirer
satisfied prior to the sost recent startup.

»

R {

Aeforence:

Mesorahdum, B, K. Grizes to 5. €. Bryen; dated June 13, 197¢
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Ooo." ATTACHMENT 2_ ; MQU" 16, 1977

FEORAIIDUA FORY 9. K, Sniezek, Assistant Director, Diviston of Reactor
Opermtions Inspection

. FROM: Karl R Goller, Assistant Director for Uperating
: Reactors -
SUBJECT: TECKIICAU SPECIFICATION ACTION STAYEMENTS

Your mame OY FIYTE, 1977 recuested guidince regr ding the scceptadiiity

of Tlcenseer plering companents or systems. {n ar inoperable status as

01 Towed b{ technical specification action statersnts for three purposes:
f plan - modifications; end preventive maintenance

: urveillence), As you ¢ v Sone
performed within the context of these categories may not be subject
1o 4 30-dey reporting requirement pursvant to Reguletory Guide 1,16,

~Aztion statements were developed to accommodate those instances when

eouipment, components or other specific conditiens of the specifications
cevld not be met because of whatever reason, We racognized then, as
well a5 now, that the potential uicol for 1cinsess. o ke rtage |

0Oreer ts PEFYGHM SELTVITTes wilhin the thre

categories Q_n_*_n_}_n, the e,
{rorder restrict such activities:

&, Liniting the Yengthiof time that specified comoonents or systems

ms remain {nopersble before further action would be required,
and: '

be Limiting the number of times and/or the tote) cunulative Tength
, of time during & specified neriod of time. tiat specified componarts
Or systems may be fnoperable.

However, fn view of the complex end extensive record keeping problems
end the leck of an adequate dats base from whicii to fafor acceptable
1i{oiting outage periods, we did mt consider the benefits to be goincd
{un"hb.a when balanced agafnst the: {ncreased effort required by
fcensees and 14E Ynspection personnel, Additionally, we believed
that we would be able to remain cognizant of pessible sduse of eutige
times through review of LEP's, supplemented tre necessavy, b{
netification action of the I4E fnspector assignio to each facility,
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Lnsed upon our grperienct 10 deto, vm sue no repson to modify our
position on action statements or allocveble outene times, Ve oo,
howsver, recoentze the need for additions) guidance rogerding
interprotation of thet portion ef the Technical Specifications

: reldting to submission of 30 duy reports for operation 1n dogradee
i meoes, We have prepared the enclosed interpratibtion to clarify

\ the intent of 1tems to be reporied, !

1f you heve further quistions on this subject, you may contact
Je Corter of my staff,

- rm—— - -

/o - L/" /1
/\ L FAY @ Sl obe

Kar! R, Goller, Assistant Director
) for Operating Reectors
Division of Operating Reactors
Enclosure:

Interpretation

¢t w/enclosure:
V. Stelle

D. Eisenhut

He ThOrnburg

. SP;’VXI

TS Group Hembers
R Branch Chiefs

E \EY




[RPEETATION OF TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS

i b = ¢ o . cman i et

ADMINISTRATIVE CONTROLS

L

{fication Adminfstrative Controls require, consistent
g Fc;u?sz:ry Guide 1,16, Rev, 4, & inirty«day written veport for
dgitions leading to operation 4n a degracded mode parmitted by @
g concdition for operation, or planc shutdown required by a
ing condition for operation.” Following 1s guidance on when
\ TEPOrLS are required, ¢

The purpose of this thirty«day written report 15 to provide deta on

eqviptent faflure, including inoperadbility, Therefore, a report is
required:

When the fadtlure 13 cetected while performing & test recuired
by the Technica) fpecificaticons to cdemonstrate operabdiity of
the equ. went, This 1: true even 17 the fatlure 135 cdetected in
a roce o0 which the Technical Spevifications do not require
operedility of the eyuipment,

when the failure 13 detected while the facility 1s cperating in

s node for which the Technical Specifications do not specifically
state that ~.trcn1\1ty of the fatled equipment {8 not required
for thet moce (50 that eperadbilfty {n that mode i reguired,
eisher directly o by implication),

L thirty=day written report need not be submitted when ecpripment it \
reroved from service, for reesons other than fatlure, to enter altermate |

or degraded modes of operation consistent with the provisions of » l
technicei specification,
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MAMORANDUM FOR: G, Flore)14, Chief, Reactor Oparations and
Nuclear Support Branch, R11I

FROM: J. K. Snfezek, Assistant Director for Flald
Cooreination, ROI/IE

SUBJECT: OPERABILITY DEMONSTRATION OF REDUNDANT SYSTEMS (FI0250K1)

We have discussed with DOR the Yssue ratsed n your memorandum of

April 27, 1877, The KRC philosophy of testing redundant systems when
one system fadls 13 undergoing & change, The current fesling 15 that
to take 1ts redundant system out of service for testing, 1f the first
gystem fails, creates the risk of the second system also 7afling, It
has been observed that faflures of the second system are often relited

to the test 1tself o 45 not an indication that the system would have
fatled should 1t have been needed.

Al current STS reflact this th1nk1n? and some TS changes are occurring
to {rorove older 75, Some older faci)ities, however, ars reluctant to
sccept this {mprovement because in arder to Justify not frmediately
testing the redundent system, that system must be routinely teitec at
an {ncreased Intarva), DOR will not accept & deletion of fmmediata
redundant testing without fmproved routine surveillance frequencies,

To specifizally answer your recuest that "‘mmediate” be intarpreted as
within four hours, 1t was falt that this could not be generslly applted,
In some casas 1t might be too Yong while 4n other cases the fourehour
period might create & rushed situstion that would result 4n 4n Incressed
~'c:c:111t{ of human faflure resyiting 4n & Yoss of the backup system,
ow 5000 the test should be conducted will dapend on the cavse of the
system faflura, As o guideline, 1f the fatlura was generic such that
the redundant system might not function for the same reason, then the
tesi $hiould be completad as s00n a5 possibla, On the other hand, 1f 1t
13 not Yikely that the second system will fail by the same mode, then
there 18 Yess urgency to conduct the test, Thus, for the present, the
MRC will rely on the techatcal Judgment of the KRC intpection staff on

& case~by-case basis, /(S
;' . Sninxck%;

&;D for Fleld Coordination
w/ircoming:
. .';:;:)u;- NRR 8. L, N°"ﬂ. R1V
£, J. Brynner, Rl J. L. Crews, RY
F. J. Long, RII K. Y. Seyfrit, IE

CONTACT: 6. L, Constable
45:2745)

-

eL
Ul




NUCLEAR RECULATOR Y SOMMILSION F—
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W MARIY YA RTYRIEIY y
ATLANTA GRORG A 3333
Marah 26, 198¢

ENCLOSURE |

ATTACHMENT 4

Gus €. Latnas, Assistent Director for Region 1] Reactors
Division of Resctor Projects 1/11
Cffice of Nuclear Resctor Regulation

FROM: Luts A, Reyes, Director, Division of Resctor Projects
SUBJILY. TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE REQUEST: INTERPRETATION

OF TECKNICAL SPECIFICATION 3.4.).4.2 AND THL

VOLUKTARY ENTRY INTO ACTION STATEMENTS CONTAINING

NO ALLOWABLE OQUTAGE TIMES OR THE WORD IMMEDIATELY
Reotor 11 has become awh e 0f & condition where & licernsee has been voluntar
erteroag sction statements that contatn no Allowable Cutage Times (ADY), An

€xevip o 0F the typica) specificatien vsed in this spproach s enclosed. The
Viririee would define the word immediately 1n the action stetement ¢ to mean
witkip 18§ minutes, HMoving cefines frmeciately as to having some time duration,
the “leersae would then Interpret the action statement to mean that the valves
Coule pe ouened for periods of time up to fifteen minutes and theredy not vie)at
the (o0 any the action statement,

19t 0 Iy telleves that the existence of the action statement does not ¢1low th
oper g of the valves for any period of time and does not allow fer voluntary
erde, RtL the sction steatement due tO the nonexistence of an AOT or ar
pogariien L0 the LCO or action statement,

11 "equests that KRR review the policy ef entering action statements thy
. tortain AQTs eand the meaning of the word 'tmmediately’ at containes in
“teel Spectifications, Specificelly, we recuest you to provide &n
; erecion of the enclosed specification as to whethar the volves covl? be
. for short durstions of time, and has there been guidance given 1n TS
K, une information that woulo cefine the word immediats.

"
¥

pii'ttonal Information 15 required, contact P, Kellogg et FTS B41-8842,

/)‘:r/
, /d“ ((1 o ‘;ﬂ"‘\ s

f

Luts A, Reyes ——

Emi Y nure:
Teuneica) Specification 3.4.1.4.2
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ENCLDSURE 2 (CONTINUT!
\ TLE ELECTRILC GENERATING PLANT Nl
ANSWER TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION
NE F INVESTIGATIONS 1§ ARY N .0 AN A §1.141
3 HASISIRUERLIL SRR ARET LL.E; ALSIR Sl ¥ S TATE L,r...:A A
significantly compromised plant safety or that was outside the design basis
the plant This 15 & second exampie of cascading violations
The grouping of these violations 13 the prime basis for escalating the propose
vil penalty and viewing the entire matter as indicative of management fault
The cascading of the one, cardinal and controlling act into several violations
which are all depencgent the same underlying act--appears to be an attempt t:
bolster the underlying weakness of the TS citatior The NRC, in a somewhat
circular and self-fulfilling fashion, then escalates the civil penalty based or
perceived broad img cationg This 15 not the type of straightforward, clear
} tation designed t ress the actual safety significance of a particular
. Y al eny the N entprcement rolicy
g This enforcement act nvolves legitimate differences of professional opini
n interpreting reqgulatior ihe NRC's requlatory qoals would be better
addressed by an i1ndustry-wide agvisory The need for such an alternative is
made more compelling given the Yikely broad application of the logic supportive
f nsary entry int mmediate” Action Statements Litigation of this 1ssud
will a mplist ttle f any verall benefit to nuclear safety in the United
tates which would not otherwise be achieved by such an advisory. At the same
t {me itigation would require a significant, perhaps imprud-nt, expenditure of
- icensee and agency attention and resources
Leorgia Power Company also denies Violation B, the remaining aspect of
violation C, and V ation D a¢ cussed in Enclosure | Additional bases for
reconsideratior the vil penalty are discussed below
111. Request for Peconsideration - Se
. - . 4 >
Georgia Power (ompany disagrees with the NRC's assicnment of a Severity Leve
111 to this enforcement action The chemical addition at i1ssue was not adverse
to safety, and there 15 no dispute regarding this point (In fact, the
evolution was conducted to reduce occupational exposure.) Thus, any violati
that may have occurrad did not have safety significance. Furthermore, in ]189¢
. the Nke specifically approved a 1S change to expressly allew chemical addit
evolutions of this iype

Th o ” o 46 sd Naps - b 2 \ 100 " % . ™ Ty

0 he NhC, ts letter of Decerber 31, 1991, tranimitting the NOV, appears t
base the assignment of a Severity Level 111 on a conclusion that the alieg
violations collectively indicate a sigrificant breakdown in managerial anc
cdministirative controls Geargia Fower Company takes issue with this
conclusior As explained below, the facts and circumstances surrounding t!

tober 1988 event do not indicate a wide-ranging breakdown in manageria)
administrative controls: tt: PRB reportability review apparently is
£2-¢
"
’ L3 & v )
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ENCLOSURE 2 (CONTINVED)

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT 1
ANSWER TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

. 91-14]

Second, the Board's deliberative approach, which concluded in a unanimous
decizion of &'V voting representatives that a 15 violation had not occurred, was
premised in large part on the lack of prohibitive language ir the T5 and
established industry and NRC policy rogard1ng voluntary entry into Limiting
Conditions for Operation (Lcoz. The NRC policy was provided to the Boara with
the compliance analysis as follows:

*The NRC endorses Voluntary Entry into the Action Statement Conditions and
has structured the TS to permit the licensee to exercise judaement within
the latitude permitted by the Action Statement language in the TS.*

Third, the Plant Review Board members recognized that a condition not analyzed
in the FSAR wus associated with the chemical additions in October 1988; this
condition, however, did not “"significantly compromise plant safety® (footnote |
on Page E1-10 of Enclosure 1) so s to require a Licensee Event Report (LER)
under 10 CFR 50.73 (a)(2)(11)(A). The NRC, therefore, is factually incorrect in
concluding that the Board "failed to recognize that an unanalyzed condit'on
existed" (page 2 of the transmittal letter of December 3], 1991). Consequently,
although the Board confirmed the reasonableness of the 1988 15 interpretation
reached by Operations Department representatives, its reportability decision was
not premised on the absence of en unanalyzed condition,

Finally, the citation ‘n the NOV for failure to submit an LER for a “condition
outside the plant design basis" is denied for the reasons set forth in

Enclosure 1. By no means does this suogest a broad-based problem in the PRB
review process or GPC's understanding of its reporting obligations. At most,
this ‘s a unique, isolated instance of disagreement betwaen the NRC and GPC over
whithe, a "condition outside the design basis" of the plant existed.

Command and Control of Operations

The NRC's December 31st letter also indicates concern that Operations Department
management failed to maintain control of plant activities. We consider this
observation 111-founded, and our October ), 199], letter specifically addressed
aspects of this apparent NRC concern. Furthermore, substantial difference
exists, in our view, between maintaining control of plant activities and the
isolated failures by involved personne! to recognize subtle implications of
their activities. We have acknowledged that on October 11-12, 1989, the night
shift crew did not recognize the Unit's entrance into a "loops not filled"
condition as a result of several contributors, including lack of gu*dlh:t and
experience. This lack of awareness does not reflect the degree of control
exerted over plant evolutions. Simply stated the shift crew addressed
preplanned and contingent activities working as a team, diligently and
continuously monitored the various changes in operation parameters (such as
reactor coolant system (RCS) water level), and appropriately delegated

£2-4
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later chose to report this event as a condition prohibited by the 15, 1t is
noteworthy that the NRC chose not to Ccite t!

the utility for a violation of the 1
ich less propose a civil penalty Georgia Power Company maintains that this
an example of inconsistent application of the requl

atory process. It also
indicates that this issue deserves to be addressed by an NRC advisory to all
licensees regarding the NRC's intended interpretation of this type of TS Actd
ytatement

" v T4 : L
quest for Reconsideration - Kscalatior
‘ raia f wer | npany a Y pet re rot ierat ¥ f the et dyil'.”" ‘“ 4 ¥
(.' ¢ f! t hi i" t he n\ ¢ v L '(' l' | v ,"‘h‘ y _—V,J ’.('w corre c v i
i ’ 2 .x' ant 4 4 v ¥ the v s!. "t
.s” ve Act i b A
spect to thi rrective act factor, the NRC states that nu long-tern
Live act N was lLaken & tha the PRI n 989 had nnt f(’\ made an

t cause evaluation or appropriate reportability determination.

s pases Tor these conclusions appear to us to be in error
since at the time 1t was determined that no 15 violation occurred, no correctiv
act N was appropr-at YETry ‘.""'\“] atter this event, recognizing that
operators during future ocutages would very likely encounter the same

. nterpretive issue regarding 15 3.4.1.4.2, GPC initiated a Licensing Document

’ ¢ { Y r ) 4 e g -~ ¢
hange Request (LDCR) the LOCR 1s preparatory to a 15 change. Our August 2¢
99 response, at pages S-10, notes this initiative r

cquested by the Nuclear
1S amendment. however, wa
addition to the reactor coolant

systenm As a result, the change was assigned a lower relative priority

, ¢ ;8
. Safety and Compliance Manager. The need date for the
t refueling outage involving & chemical

hen, the question of chemica! addition to the reactor coolant system was
turther addressed beginning in April 1989 as a result of proposed procedurs

revisions As a result of processing the LOCR 1n anticipation of an upcomir
retueling outage, the issue of the October 1988 event was subsequently revived
by VEGP Technical Support personnel and reviewed by the FRB in the Fal) of 188%
Apart from the TS interpretive issue, the PRB also recognized that chemical
' additions via this flowpath were not currently analyzed in the FSAR

& Appropriate guidance to avoid such actions 1n the future had been issued at that
time Furthermore, with the approval of the amendment to TS 3.4.).4.2 i1

0| February 1990, the FSAR was subsequently updated to reflect the current
analysis In 1ight of these actions, GPC concludes that timely action was taks
to address the 1ssue No further actiun by the PRB was necessary

f

!\

Al
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ENCLOSURE 2 (CONTINUVED)

VOGTLE ELECTRIC GENERATING PLANT - UNIT |
ANSWER 70 A NOTICE OF VIOLATION

The NRC, in transmitting the NOV, also vaguely suggests that the PRB, “as late
as one year after initial occurrence” had not made an adequate “root cause
evaluation.® However, no root cause evaluation would have been made on this
issue prior to the 1989 PRB review--because no concern had yet been identified.
As noted above, the 1989 PRB review of the incident was undertaken under GPC's
own initiative. At that time, the only root cause evaluation undertaken
expressly identified "confusing/incomplete’ guidance regarding 1S 3.4.1.4.2.
Because no violation was identified, this root cause evaluation more than
adequately addressed the known and understood concern. As also noted above,
corrective actions to resolve this issue had already been undertaken,

Contrary to the escalation applied, GPC had in fact inftiated timely corrective
actions prior to the 1989 PRB reportability review. These actions were in
process to lead to timely amendment of TS 3.4.1.4.2 prior to the subsequent
refueling outage (when the change would be needed). Therefore, long term
corrective actions were in place.

ldentification Factor

Also contrary to the escalation applied, GPC had identified this issue and
documented 1ts disposition long before it ever came to the attention of the NRC
as a potential violation. To meintain that GPC had not identified the issue
because we did not conclude that a 1S violation had occurred is another example
of the NR(L's cascading v alaiinne in this enforcement action. This logic
implies thai iicensees a.e penalized for professional opinions differing from
those of the NRC.

V. Conclusion

In summary, GPC maintains that the violations did not occur as alleged and thai
the civil penalty is iuappropriate in this case. We have, however, acknowledged
historic weaknesses with respect to maintaining section 15.4.6 of the FSAR
current and with respect to training related to the definition of the "loops not
filled" condition, As discussed in Enclosurc 1, appropriate corrective actions
have been *taken to correct these weaknesses.

£2-7



